
1

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES
Coventry Town Council Budget Meeting

March 9, 2026         7:00 PM
Town Hall Annex

1. Call To Order, Roll Call:

The Meeting was called to order by Council Chairwoman Lisa Thomas at 7:00 PM

Members Present: Lisa Thomas-Chairwoman, Peter Larson-Vice Chairman (joined at 8:00 PM), Matthew Kyer-
Secretary, Jon Hand, Robyn Gallagher, Mark Wheaton, and Julie Blanchard.

Also Present: James Drumm-Town Manager, and Cherie Trahan-Finance Director.

2. Pledge of Allegiance:

Town Council members stood to recite the Pledge of Allegiance.

Thomas noted there is no Audience of Citizens (AOC) for this special Town Council meeting, but there will be 

an Audience of Citizens for every regular Town Council meeting, and for certain special meetings during 

budget season. Information for which meetings contain an AOC can be found on the town website.

3. Unfinished Business:

3.A. 25/26-39: FY 2026/27 Budget:

 Presentation of Proposed Budgets:

3.A.1. Booth and Dimock Memorial Library Budget Presentation:

Library Director, Margaret Kahn and President of the Library Board of Trustees, Jacob Jankowski gave a 

presentation of the library’s budget. 

Presentation: 26/27 Library Budget Presentation   Booth and Dimock Annual Report: 2025 Annual Report

Highlights from their presentation:

 The library’s proposed budget is larger than what the Town Manager has proposed at $713,000, which is a 

total increase of $95,200.

 The Town Manager’s budget proposes a 4% increase, increasing the bottom line $25,000. This is not 

enough to cover necessary expenses and have enough money for staff and fund new programs and materials.

 Staff raises were delayed in the current FY from July 1 to Oct. 1, to help balance the budget. The Board of 

Trustees desires to give a baseline cost of living increase of 2.5% to all employees, with the exception of

minimum wage employees, which will need to be 3.5%.

 The Town Manager’s proposed budget only allows for a 1.8% raise for non-minimum wage employees.

 The library board hopes the Council will consider increasing funding from the Town Manager’s 

recommendation. $15,000 more to the bottom line will ensure a 2.5% living increase to the staff and $5,000 

for programs.

 The library has had the same growth over the past 3 years in the visits, programs, computer and Wi-Fi use, 

and new library card registration categories showing community reliance on the library.

https://www.coventry-ct.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/19200?fileID=28363
https://www.coventry-ct.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/19200?fileID=28360


2

 Total circulation is at a 6-year high and is expected to remain at this level for the remainder of the FY.

 Over the last 2 years, the library has issued 932 new library cards, which is the highest it's been in 10 years.

 As of June 2025, 3,404 Coventry residents had active library cards.

 Library outreach events have been successful and continue to grow.

 Goals:

o Continue to expand library outreach, through increased operating hours (8 hours on Mondays). 

Currently, the library is closed on Mondays. The cost for this is about $41,700.

o Expand staff benefits.

o Develop more competitive wages to retain excellent, well-qualified staff.

o Increase spending on materials and programs.

 The library value calculator determined that for every $1 spent, $8.12 was returned back to the community.

 $14,800 in revenue was received from grants, fees, and interest.

 The Governor's current proposed budget reduces funding from the ‘Borrow It’ program, which will reduce 

the library’s revenue by a couple hundred dollars.

 Library budget increase requests are driven by factors mainly outside of library’s control, like increases to

service and vendor contracts.

 The library faces challenges to keep pace with mandated minimum wage increases that have led to 

compressed pay grades.

 Current materials and program spending is the same as it was over 10 years ago. The library is only 

requesting an increase of $600 to that total of $41,100. Costs for materials have increased, while funding for

materials has decreased.

 The state library has indicated a baseline expense of $4 per capita. In the proposed budget, the per capita 

expense has increased to $2.84.

 Being open on Monday is standard across the board, and the Booth and Dimock’s 43 weekly hours fall 

below the schedules of neighboring towns.

Questions and Comments

Blanchard:

 Felt the cost for phone lines were high and asked about how the # of lines and usage.

o Kahn-Phone lines are on contract with the town for the cost of $130/month. Additionally, the library 

maintains 5 additional lines for faxing and security system purposes.

 The budget book reflects $309,000 from grants and contributions, which is ½ of the library’s funds. She was

curious why the whole contribution was not shown.

o Kahn-Confirmed and expressed that town grants are received on a quarterly basis. Trahan added that 

once they receive the library’s expenditures, they will be booked reducing the $309,000 that is currently 

on the books.

 Asked if dumpster fees have been looked into.

o Kahn-No, prices continue to rise, and the library is happy with their service. The increases by the 

current vendor are manageable.

 Disagreed with how the contributions are recorded, as it is not clear and could be confusing to those who are

not familiar with reading these reports.



3

o Trahan explained that the information can be found in the monthly expenditure summaries. The transfer

will be reflected on the report as soon as the funding is sent to the library.

o Gallagher added that she understands this is how the accounting software allows the funds to be 

recorded. Including the amount now would reflect contributions too high, and including a negative 

amount would look like $0 was budgeted for the library.

 Asked how many full-time employees there are and entitled to health benefits. Kahn explained there are 4, 

including herself. They receive $14,250 which can be used towards health benefits or a retirement fund.

Wheaton:

 Asked for clarification that the Monday hours are expected to increase weekly hours by 18%, and that this is

reflected in the salaries and wages line. Kahn confirmed.

Gallagher:

 Clarified that the line items listed is not what they are going to get. The Town Manager’s recommended 

budget is just $70,000 off the bottom line, and the Library Board will do what it wants with the funds. 

However, she expects that the library will not put $60,000 in the salaries and wages after taking a cut of 

$70,000. Which is why the Town Manager’s recommended budget does not fund Monday hours.

o Kahn reminded that a $70,000 reduction is more than the $42,000 needed for Monday hours. Requiring 

an additional $30,000 from the library’s budget.

 Commented on how great and well attended the kids programs are.

 Shared that when cuts are made to both the BOE and library, it impacts the children in town twice.

Kyer:

 Commented that he is amazed by the return on investment of $1 to $8.12.

 Asked for other benefits of the library being open on Mondays to be shared.

o Additional availability for people to use the internet/Wi-Fi.

o Additional hours as a dedicated space for teenagers outside of school.

o Programs and space for people of all ages

 Kyer felt these benefits were important for those who need a safe place to go 5 days a week after school.

o Jankowski stated that school is open on Mondays, so it is important that the library is available for 

students. The only Mondays that it will be closed are state and federal holidays.

Larson:

 Felt amazed that the library is working with the same amount of programming funding as they were in 2015,

especially with how costs have risen.

o Kahn stated that they spend about .25 cents per participant, which is really good.

Hand:

 Shared the reality of the library being a warm, safe place for children to go after school for programs, 

working on homework, etc., as this was his experience growing up in town. He imagines other kids use the 

library to the same degree.

Thomas:



4

 Asked for clarification that $15,000 added back into the Town Manager’s proposed budget would allow for 

a 2.5% salary increase to staff. Kahn confirmed, and added this would include all staff starting July 1, with 

the exception of minimum wage employees (shelvers).

 Asked for qualifications of library assistants.

o L1s- high school diploma, and experience working with the public. Comes with training, and is good 

for people who have an interest in libraries and serving the community,

o L2s- college degree, more extensive experience in a library setting, and proficient computer skills.

 Asked if healthcare benefits have increased? Kahn confirmed that the library has increased the benefits from

$500-$700 per employee over the past couple of years.

 Asked if the line item for donations includes donations received from the community mailer the library 

sends out.

o Kahn-Some of it, and some of the membership funds are dedicated towards operating costs. 

Additionally, contributions a randomly mailed in or left at the desk. Thomas was curious how 

fundraising efforts have supported the library. Kahn shared that they are integrated into the general 

budget. Trahan confirmed that the funds are put towards expenditures, which reduces library spending.

Kahn explained that the membership drive raised $13,000 this year.

Jankowski commented that he recognizes the Town Council has a difficult task with the upcoming budget. 

However, the increases the library has historically received over the past decade have had to been dedicated to 

fixed costs the library board did not have control over. This has led to spending on programs and materials to be

below what was desired.

He added that he does not want to see Booth and Dimock at the bottom of the list for # of hours the library is 

open compared to neighboring towns. He stressed that the library is such an important part of the community 

and is a fantastic facility. Every year more and more people are able to take advantage of the library. He 

commented that he hopes the Town Council sees the real benefits of adding something back beyond what the 

Town Manager has proposed.

Jankowski shared good news that the paperwork from SHPO (State Historic Preservation Office) was finally 

received for the library to move forward with applying for a grant for historical preservation. Kahn shared that a

condition assessment was done through SHPO, that revealed a few areas of concern for Booth and Dimock 

Library. From this information, a priority list of repairs was developed. The upcoming repairs planned are joist 

repairs and a portico repair at the front entrance which has been affected by water infiltration. Drumm added 

that since the building belongs to the town, $39,500 has been budgeted in the proposed budget for historic 

library repairs, which is 50% of the estimated project costs.

Jankowski explained that the library is required to close out the joist project, before they can apply for another 

grant to help fund the portico repairs. Thomas asked if it was realistic to include the funding for the portico in 

the 26-27 budget. She shared concerns that the joist project still needs to be completed, and a grant application 

process needs to be completed as well. Kahn shared that the portico was indicated as the next priority by 

structural engineers, but she can’t speak to the timeline for SHPO to close the grant. Kahn added that she 

expects construction to be completed in the summer. The next round of grant applications are due in the fall and

awarded in the winter. Thomas shared that if the $39,500 may not be needed in FY 26-27, then they can use that

to put the $15,000 as requested.



5

3.A.2. Coventry Board of Education Budget Presentation:

BOE members present: Jennifer Beausoleil-Chairperson, Dr. David Petrone-Superintendent, Mary Kortman-

Vice Chairperson, Megan Boshuyzen, Emma Eaton, Joshua Clark, Mark Larson, Courtney Rossignol, and 

Charmain Bradshaw-Hill-BOE Business Manager.

Beausoleil explained that the BOE budget remains unchanged from Dr. Petrone’s presentation, and from the 

budget book. She continued that there is nothing new in the budget, and the overall FTE increase is not an 

increase, but a decrease. She explained that they are getting things done that they are required to do, with the 

same number of staff.

Beausoleil shared that the difference between Dr. Petrone’s request to the Board in January is very minor, with 

a change to the health insurance line for the Board’s share of premiums for the BOE employees based off the 

decision to leave ECHIP. The BOE used the current premium amount per their staff census and used that 

number in the proposed FY 26/27 budget. Beausoleil added that the BOE employees have a higher premium co-

share than the town employees do. Looking at the health insurance line, it does not equate to the premium 

increase that USI claimed was required for employees. The amount in the line item is the district’s share of the 

health insurance. The employee contribution toward the premium is not in the budget because it is not coming 

from the taxpayers; it's coming from the employees. She noted that this may cause percentages to look out of 

line, because they don’t cover as large of a piece of the insurance premium.

Beausoleil also shared that the Board of Ed received a huge number of mandates that they don’t have the option 

of whether to implement it or not. They need to do what is required to meet legal and state regulation 

obligations.

Beausoleil stated that the BOE has received encouraging news from state legislature regarding ECS funding. 

She expressed this is the 1st time that she has heard the House and the Senate propose bills to increase the 

baseline for what towns receive per student. She added it is also the 1st time she has seen support for that type of

bill on both sides of the political aisle. She felt that the ECS funding has a good chance of being higher when 

the state budget comes out in the spring than what is in the Governor’s proposed budget.

Questions and Comments:

Blanchard:

 Asked when the potential ECS funding would come available. Beausoleil stated July 1 of the upcoming FY. 

She added that they are looking at editing the base number they use for the ECS formula by some sort of 

inflationary index that's agreed upon by everyone, to be changed on a yearly basis. Thomas noted that the 

Town Council did submit testimony to state legislature in support of this. Beausoleil commented that they 

have worked with local representatives, Sen. Gordon and Rep. Ackert. She stated that Senator Gordon put 

forth the bill to increase ECS funding by $5,000 per student. She emphasized that both have been very 

supportive in this endeavor.

 Asked about the # of students listed on pg. 5, which states there are 128 students at the PreK. She asked if 

this included paid tuition and special ed. Dr. Petrone confirmed and stated that there are about 40 students 

that receive special education services on some level.

 Questioned what is driving up non-certified salaries to increase 35.44%.



6

o Dr. Petrone explained that this is driven by the absences and the need for substitute teachers. He 

informed that there are shortages everywhere, and Coventry has had to increase their rates to stay 

competitive. Beausoleil added that the 35% increase seems high, but it is only a $17,000 increase.

 Discussed pg. 86 and asked for clarification on the difference between maintenance supplies and custodial 

supplies.

o Dr. Petrone informed that maintenance supplies are things like filters, belts, and hoses for things like 

the HVAC system. Custodial supplies are cleaning materials. Beausoleil noted that the cost for 

maintenance supplies has increased due to the age of the building and the cost of maintaining the 

systems.

 Discussed the 19.46% increase for non-certified salaries for the Central Office on pg. 90.

o Bradshaw-Hill explained this reflects the market adjustment for staff members who have been working 

in finance and HR roles to accommodate the fact that they have been underpaid for several years. Even 

with this increase, the pay rates are still significantly lower than surrounding districts.

 Questioned health insurance premiums that are listed in 2 different places. On pg. 91, it shows an increase 

of 10.4%, but earlier on it was not that high.

o Bradshaw-Hill explained that the supplemental page got missed, as far as getting the updates that were 

discussed earlier. The correct percentage is 7.99% or $328,685.

Gallagher:

 Asked about the increase of contracted services: administration technology that is larger than expected 

(almost a 60% increase) on pg. 16 of the budget.

o Dr. Petrone explained this is for new software. Bradshaw-Hill added it's for the cloud base for the 

Finance Office as well. Beausoleil commented that some of the software pieces are multi-year, not 

annual, as to why the cost is higher than expected. It was also discussed that big software renewals are 

staggered, so they don’t all hit at once. Kortmann added on pg. 93 has these items listed out.

 Slide 19 of Dr. Petrone’s presentation was discussed, which Gallagher had clarified that the annual software 

review is across the board, both educational and administrative.

 Pointed out that the total increase for GHR is 1.18%, which is well below inflationary rates. She believes 

that a .2% increase for a music instructor would be beneficial for a school with such a low increase. Dr. 

Petrone spoke on the large decrease to the BOE last year, and how hard it will be to recover from that.

Wheaton:

 Questioned the significant increase for student transportation on pg. 8.

o Dr. Petrone explained that it is from contractual increases. Beausoleil added that the increase is for 

transportation across the district, which includes regular and special education transportation. She 

reminded that special education transportation is more expensive as it is usually specialized.

 Discussed assumption #3, on pg. 20, which reflects an 8% increase for pension, but on pg. 7, row 230 reflect 

that pensions are increasing 10%

o Bradshaw-Hill explained that the baseline employer liability for the pension plan has not been 

confirmed yet but is projected to be 8%. Additionally, there are contributions made separate from the 

employer liability fees that are made to the employees as in their contract. So, the contributions to the 

employees are inflating the number a little bit, reflecting in 10%

 Questioned what non-public tuition is.



7

o Dr. Petrone responded that non-public tuition is usually a DCF placement dictated by the state for 

private school.

 Discussed assumption #1 on page 20, which shows the salary increase for teachers is 3%. However, at GHR

the amount is 1% and at Nathan Hale Middle School the amount is 6.48%. He asked for more information 

on the 1-step increases and how the increase is at 6% for 30 people. Beausoleil explained that there are both 

general wage increase that is given to everyone in the union and STEP. STEP is milestone driven pay 

increases.

 Asked why other expenses aren’t listed under Hale Early Education Center, besides salaries. Beausoleil 

explained that the operating budget at HEEC is funded by private paid tuition and not included in the BOE 

budget. However, the BOE is required to cover the special education costs at HEEC. She explained that the 

operating expenses at HEEC are provided in the BOE financial reports that are provided every month.

Kyer:

 Suggested to revisit student transportation, he pointed out that the amount budgeted for the current FY is 

$2,124,000. The actuals as of Dec. 31st are already over that. This places the year end estimate at 

$2,382,000. He stated that the proposal for the next fiscal year should be on what the district is actually 

going to spend. He feels the increased costs come from mandates they are expected to cover.

o Dr. Petrone explained that the district has control over the 17 buses and knows what those will cost due 

to the DATCO contract. He reminded that programs and transportation are based on the needs that exist

today. If the state informs that there will be a new special education student in the district, without a 

nexus, Coventry becomes the responsible party for their transportation. Dr. Petrone explained the 

reimbursement formula.

 Kyer pointed out that over a 5-year period, the per pupil spending in our DRG (district reference group) has 

steadily decreased to the point that Coventry is now last. He stressed that this is not a trend that Coventry 

should aspire to. Kyer shared that he understands the Town Council does not give specific cuts, just a total 

amount for the BOE to decide where to make cuts. However, the DRG shows that the cuts the BOE has had 

to make over the past 4 years from the Town Council cuts to their budget have taken Coventry from 30th 

out of 33, to 33rd out of 33. He asked that the Council keep this in mind during the budget process. He also 

added that out of schools in our geographical area, Coventry is almost dead last for per pupil spending. 

Beausoleil commented that Coventry went from #138 out of 165 towns for the state ranking to #148, which 

is the bottom 10%, and Coventry is well below the state average. She reminded that taxpayers may think 

they are paying a lot of schools, but they are not compared to the rest of the state. She reminded that even 

with low spending, Coventry is able to get great results. However, if funding does not increase, the BOE 

will need to give up those things that provide great results. Kyer explained that there seems to be a 

disconnect that our school district spends less per pupil, yet our students are outperforming other towns that 

spend more per pupil. He expressed that Coventry does an amazing job, but it is not sustainable for the long 

run. He added that he adds value to people's homes when people want to move to Coventry, which is in part 

due to the town having amazing schools.

Thomas:

 Asked about the districts' responsibility to those attending magnet schools.



8

o Dr. Petrone informed that they don’t have to provide transportation to magnet schools but are required 

to provide transportation to Tech and Vo-Ag Schools. He added that any students at the PreK who have 

an IEP are legally required to receive transportation from the district as well.

 Discussed state legislation that she believes would require math and literacy interventionists.

o Dr. Petrone informed that it is not a mandate but is recommended to have a person in the schools to fill 

that role. He explained that there are reading rooms and math interventionalist at GHR and CGS. Dr. 

Petrone continued that if they are able to catch challenges at an early stage, they can help offset 

expenses and challenges associated with those at a later point.

 Shared concerns that there is potential to allow unbudgeted magnet school placements. Dr. Petrone 

commented that he heard there has been talk about this, and it could happen anywhere in the year. He 

continued that the BOE does not have any control over what magnet schools charge the district for special 

education services. He informed that the district incurred $75,000 of unanticipated expenses from magnet 

schools and tech schools for special education. He noted their biggest concern is surprise placements by 

DCF.

Hand:

 Asked for a rough estimate of the number of magnet school placements. It was explained that it is broken 

down in the budget book by age group/per school. Dr. Petrone also explained that there are students who 

start off at Vo-Ag/Tech schools and end up coming back to CPS for a number of reasons.

Beausoleil expressed that the BOE is not trying to pick on/single out the special ed portion of the population. 

She emphasized that from a financial standpoint the special ed expenses are unpredictable. She stressed that 

every student deserves what they need to learn.

Dr. Petrone explained that it will not be good for the Coventry students if the BOE has to go down the path with

yet another significant cut. He stressed that many increases are minimal but needed.

The BOE left at 9:07 PM.

26/27 Budget Discussions:

Thomas stressed that she feels very strongly about having a DPW Maintainer 1 position in the budget and 

reminded that she will push for this during deliberations. She continued that the DPW has been consistently 

understaffed with demands growing and growing, including many projects on the horizon that have to do with 

facilities. She also shared that the staff is aging and there is a concern with a loss of institutional knowledge. 

Drumm commented that within 6 years, most of the current DPW staff will be retired.

Gallagher pointed out that the memo she requested was received from Trahan and shows all items in the budget 

that have a significant or valuable increase in the budget and what they are for.

Wheaton questioned the longevity line item that is in various labor accounts for town departments. It was 

explained that it is for people who reach the cap in the STEP pay increases. This gives employees a certain 

amount per year, with a max of $500. Trahan added that this amount is a separate 1-time payment not included 

in the employee's base wages.

Wheaton also shared that there is a department in the budget book whose revenues and expenditures don’t 

match. Trahan informed that there are a few that need to be reformatted in order to show the use of fund balance



9

as a revenue, if needed. Gallagher shared that some special revenue funds have revenues higher than their 

annualized operating expenses because big expenses are coming up.

Blanchard discussed her desire to have historical data from last year to show cuts made and more information, 

like the chart used to help with this year’s budget deliberations. Larson agreed, especially as a new Councilor, 

that it would be helpful to have information that shows areas that have been historically under or over funded.

This will be worked on to see if that information could be provided based on documents from last year’s budget.

4. Adjournment:

Motion: I move that the Town Council adjourn the meeting at 9:28 PM.
By: Hand Second: Wheaton

The meeting was adjourned at 9:28 by unanimous vote, except for Councilor Blanchard who was not present for
the vote.

Respectfully Submitted,

Nicole Archambault
Nicole Archambault, Minutes Clerk

PLEASE NOTE: These minutes are not official until approved by the Coventry Town Council at the next

Town Council meeting. Please see the next Town Council meeting minutes for approval or changes to these

minutes.



10

Finance Director-Significant Changes Memo for Town Manager’s FY 26/27 Proposed Budget:



11



12



13



14




